


 

1 
 

Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission 

Meeting Thursday, November 21, 2024   

Call to Order: 

Ann Linley called to order the Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission Meeting for 
Thursday, November 21, 2024 at 7:03 pm. 

Roll Call: 

Present: Bobby Glassburn, JA Whitmer, Ann Linley and Bill Zimmerman. Eric Trotter with the 
City of Elkhart and Deb Parcell with Indiana Landmarks.  

Absent: N/A 

Approval of Agenda: 

Linley asked the board if there were any amendments to the agenda.  

Linley asked for a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Motion made by Bill Zimmerman, 
seconded by JA Whitmer; motion carried unanimously.  

Approval of Minutes: 

Linley gave everyone a minute to look over the minutes for September 19, 2024 to see if there 
were corrections, amendments or additions that needed to be made to the minutes.  

Linley said she would accept a motion to approve the minutes as presented. Motion made by JA 
Whitmer, seconded by Bobby Glassburn; motion carried with roll call vote 4-4.  

Financial Report: 

Linley asked if there was a financial report and Eric Trotter responded that there were no changes 
to it.  

Hearing of Visitors: 

N/A 

Old Business: 

N/A 

New Business:  

A: Approval of 2025 Meeting Calendar 

Trotter said that it is the same cycle that the Historic Commission typically has with the left 
column: file by date which is two weeks before the meeting date and the meeting date is the third 
Thursday of every month with the exception of June because the 19th of that month is a holiday 
and the meeting has been moved to June 18th 2025. 

Linley asked Trotter to send reminders to the board members in advance. 



 

2 
 

Linley said she would accept a motion to approve the calendar for 2025 as presented. Motion made 
by Glassburn, seconded by Whitmer; motion carried with roll call vote 4-4.  

Announcements: 

Trotter announced that he will be representing the City of Elkhart in the Indiana Landmark holiday 
gathering in Wabash which is the area of Paul Hayden, Indiana Landmark staff. Trotter hoped and 
asked the board member if anyone would like to join him Wednesday December 11 since he 
already rsvp. Linley said that she would check since she may be able to go with him. Trotter 
mentioned that it is a forty five minute drive. Linley said that an audit got cancelled and confirmed 
her assistance to the holiday gathering at Wabash. Trotter added that she can rsvp through the 
email she received.  

Trotter announced that they are nearing the end of the UDO draft and there would be a special 
meeting to introduce the document to the various boards at the end of December 2024 beginning 
of January 2025. Trotter said that he does not have the details of the meeting. 

Trotter shared that it is a big fat document with lots of text in for the zoning ordinance, subdivision 
and preservation all wrapped into one. Trotter announced that he will be meeting with Parcell the 
following week about a potential interest to establish a separate new district for a couple properties 
downtown. Trotter said that they are looking at restoration of the exterior on a couple of the 
buildings and they are working on their financing and stacking up and he believed that it would 
not be much of a stretch since those are largely unaltered buildings.  

Linley asked Parcell if she had any announcements. Parcell gave the board an update on what 
Whitmer had asked in the last meeting for property on Division Street. Parcell shared that they are 
doing their yearly rounds and inspecting buildings that they have covenants and easements and 
that property is in their list of higher ups within Indiana landmarks and it is still on discussion.  

Parcell announced that this Saturday they are having a workshop in La Porte talking about hazards 
materials like lead paint and asbestos given by Paul Hayden. Parcell had a conversation with 
Trotter about having a workshop like that in Elkhart for next year not just for homeowner or 
Historic District but for everyone and get it in video to be accessible by others on demand.  

Trotter said that he reached out to the community development department and they are willing to 
partner with the commission on helping to get the word out to various homeowners and 
neighborhoods and their list of contractors to participate in that as well. Linley shared that they 
were emailing back and forth ideas since it’s been her passion since her house had lead and perhaps 
it could be done in March after the bad weather but before the season of tearing into houses and 
somehow record it and make it available in the city website to make it available as community 
outreach. 

Parcell asked the board members to start thinking about an educational session they may be 
interested in since it has been a long time since they had one and it should be a priority. Parcell 
heard great staff at camp about making legally defensible motions, how to organize your meetings, 
and they did deep dive on alternative materials. Parcell said that they could talk about it a little bit 
more in January to get something definite since it is part of their contract with the city and Indiana 



 

3 
 

Landmarks. Parcell said that she wants to make sure that they do some education and it is important 
for the CLG.  

Trotter shared that he did go to the state preservation conference in Madison at the same time with 
Parcell and it was incredible. Trotter encourage the board members  to visit Madison since it is the 
largest contiguous historic direct district in the United States as far as area. Trotter shared that he 
will learn how to Airbnb and him and his family will stay at Madison after the beginning of the 
year to try it out. Whitmer recommended Trotter to stay in the lower Madison which is the historic 
district and added that upper Madison is Walmart.  

Linley asked if anyone in the commission had anything for the good of the order. Glassburn said 
that he emailed Linley the Indiana Landmarks email.    

Adjournment: 

Linley said that she would accept a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:17 pm. Motion made 
Glassburn, seconded by Whitmer; motion approved unanimously. 

 

 

        

Ann Linley, Chair 



24-COA-07

























Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 

Community Preservation Specialist - Staff Review 
 
 

Application Number: 24-COA-07 
Applicant's  Name: JI Contracting Company, LLC 
Property Address: 142 State Street                       
Local Landmark or District: State & Division Local and National Register Historic Districts  
Rating: Contributing 
Architectural Style: Gable-front 
Date Constructed:  c. 1880 
 
Description of proposed project:  

1) Siding:  Wrap existing wood siding with house wrap (Tyvek or similar).  Install veneer stone below 
window sills on all facades.   Install LP SmartSide 7” horizontal siding above stone to top of window 
trim, then LP vertical board and batten style siding above horizontal siding. 

2) Soffit and Fascia:  install aluminum soffit and fascia over wood. 
3) Porch – remove deteriorated porch floor, replace with Trex composite porch decking.  Remove 

existing round columns, replace with square columns. 
4) Windows – remove existing 2/2 wood windows; replace with 3/1 Hawthorn vinyl windows with 

black exterior.  Remove existing wood trim, replace with LP SmartSide trim.  Top of window trim 
will be straight, not arched as existing. 

5) Doors – replace existing non-original doors. 
 
Applicable Ordinance Authority:  Section 12.6 of Ordinance 4041 of the City of Elkhart requires a 
Certificate of Appropriateness to be issued for a conspicuous change in the exterior appearance of the 
existing building by demolitions, moving, additions, new construction, alteration, color change or 
maintenance of existing buildings, including windows, doors and all exterior features, walls or fences. As 
such, a Certificate of Appropriateness must be issued for the work proposed at the 142 State Street. 
 
Applicable Guidelines:  
Building Materials - wood:  Wood clapboard, siding and shingles are very common exterior wall materials 
in the district.  Their design features, such as dimensions, decoration, and placement, and architectural detail 
around windows, porches, doors, and eaves, are extremely important to the overall historic character of the 
structure.  Their retention, protection, and repair are of particular importance in rehabilitation projects.   
Retain original exterior building materials.  Prevent deterioration of wood materials by repairing, cleaning, 
and painting as needed.  Do not remove original wood siding or resurface with new material that is 
inappropriate or was unavailable when the building was constructed, such as artificial stone, brick veneer, 
aluminum or vinyl siding. 
Porches – Retain existing or original porches, stoops, patios, and steps, including handrails, balusters, 
columns, brackets, tiles, and roof decorations.  Do not replace porch details with materials representing an 
earlier or later period or style from the original. 
Windows and Doors – Retain original windows and doors, including sash, lintels, sills, shutters, decorative 
glass, pediments, hoods and hardware.  If wood elements are deteriorated beyond repair, replace by patching 
or piecing-in with wood or consolidating with approved epoxy products.  Most wood windows can be 
repaired and fitted with energy saving storm windows.  Do not remove original windows or doors. 
 



 

2 
 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Finding of Fact: 

1. Exterior cladding has changed through the years according to photos attached.  It is 
unknown if existing wood siding is original, but is a typical exterior wall cladding in the 
historic district. 

2. Current siding has been painted since 2007. 
3. Lead paint on the siding can be abated by encapsulation with paint.  
4. LP SmartSide has been approved occasionally for historic properties.  Smooth face (not 

textured) is preferred. 
5. Siding should be horizontal; vertical board and batten is not typical in the historic district. 
6. Stone is not typically approved on walls in the historic district. 
7. Encapsulation and/or removal of lead paint is the preferred approach over wholesale 

replacement of windows. 
8. Vinyl windows are generally not approved in the historic district, particularly on street-facing 

sides.   
9. If windows must be replaced, fiberglass, or aluminum- or fiberglass-clad wood windows are 

recommended.  Windows should be the same lite-division as original (mostly 2/2, front 
porch window is 35/1), and should be simulated divided-lite (applied grid with spacers in the 
glass, not “grids-between-the-glass”).  Original window trim should be retained if possible, 
or replaced to match the original in size and shape. 

10. Trex is a suitable replacement for porch floor.  Porch columns should be retained if possible; 
if deteriorated beyond repair, they should be replaced with something similar to existing or 
square (see 2003 photo with square columns), although it would not have to be wood – 
could be fiberglass or non-shiny paintable composite. 

11. Retaining the existing beadboard porch ceiling is preferred. 
12. Doors are not original and could be replaced.  Replacement style/material is unknown. 

 
Recommended Motions: 

1. Siding – approval of painting existing clapboard siding to encapsulate any lead paint is 
recommended.  If substitute siding is approved, it should be horizontal siding (LP 
SmartSide, James Hardie, or similar) with a smooth face and reveal as close to existing as 
possible.  Denial of stone and/or vertical board-and-batten style siding.  Freize board detail 
should be retained regardless of siding material. 

2. Soffit and Fasccia – approval of retaining/repairing/painting existing wood soffit and 
fascia to encapsulate any lead paint is preferred. 

3. Porch – approval of Trex decking material; repairing/retaining existing porch colums 
preferred, if replacement columns are approved, fiberglass or non-shiny paintable composite 
in square or tapered column profile could be allowed. 

4. Windows – denial of replacement with vinyl windows.  Existing windows should be 
repaired and retained.  Lead paint can be encapsulated or removed.  At minimum, street-
facing original windows should be retained.  If replacement windows are approved on sides 
of building, fiberglass, or aluminum- or fiberglass-clad wood windows are recommended.  
Windows should be the same lite-division as original (mostly 2/2) and should be simulated 
divided-lite (applied grid with spacers in the glass, not “grids-between-the-glass”).  Original 
window trim should be retained if possible, or replaced to match the original in size and 
shape. 



 

3 
 

5. Doors – approval of replacement doors with final approval by staff upon submission of 
door style/material. 

 
Filed by:  Deb Parcell 
Date:  December 19, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                   142 State – 2003 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                             142 State – 2007 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                           142 State – 2019 



 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                              142 State – November 2024 – front façade 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                             West Façade - 2024 



 

6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                  Rear Façade - 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                    East Façade – 2024  



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                      Proposed color palette 


	AGENDA 12.30.24
	12.19.24 Meeting Packet Web
	HISTORIC MINS 11.21.24 -DRAFT
	12.19.24 Meeting Packet Web
	12.19.24 Meeting Packet-web_Redacted
	24-COA-07 APPLICATION 142 STATE STREET

	24-COA-07 142 State Street





